No.

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### TIMOTHY WHITE

Petitioner,

VS.

### CLARK COUNTY,

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH & LOWNEY, PLLC

By: Knoll D. Lowney WSBA No. 23457

2317 East John Street Seattle WA 98112-5412

(206) 860-2883

Attorneys for Petitioner Timothy White

##

### I. INTRODUCTION

Division Two's published opinion in this case (hereafter "Published Opinion," Appendix A) threatens both the Public Records Act and election integrity in the State of Washington.

In *John Doe A. v., Wash. State Patrol,* 185 Wn.2d 363 (2016), this Court recognized that the Public Records Act would be jeopardized by an expansive application of the "other statute" exemption under RCW 42.56.070(1). The Court therefore adopted a strict standard that allows that exemption to apply "only when the legislature has made it explicitly clear that that a specific record, or portions of it, is exempt or otherwise prohibited from production." *Id.*, 185 Wn.2d at 373. Courts of Appeals have since embraced that standard in several published opinions.

The Published Opinion fundamentally conflicts with the Court's policy in two ways.

First, the Published Opinion departs from established precedent to hold, for the first time, that a state agency can exempt records from public disclosure through administrative rule. RCW 42.56.070(1) only allows an exemption to be based upon a "statute," not a "statute or rule." This Court emphasized this in Washington State Patrol, holding that the "other statute" exemption only applies "when the legislature has made it explicitly clear..." that a record or information is exempt from disclosure.

Yet, for the first time, the Published Opinion states that an agency regulation can also constitute an "other statute" exempting public records from disclosure. This precedent, if allowed to stand, would mean that an agency can exempt its own documents from disclosure, which is antithetical to the PRA and decades of PRA jurisprudence.

Second, the Published Opinion departs from the rule adopted in Wash. State Patrol that the "other statute" exemption only applies when the statute is "explicitly clear" that the record is exempt or prohibited from disclosure. The Published Opinion adopts the exact opposite standard, stating that the documents in question – images of voted ballots in past elections – cannot be released because the relevant statute does not authorize such release. The Published Opinion adopts a rule that is diametrically opposed to the "explicitly clear" standard adopted by the Supreme Court and other Courts of Appeals decisions.

This Court should grant review to correct Division II's ominous expansion of the "other statute" exemption, which, if allowed to stand, could quickly become an exemption that swallows the rule.

In addition, the Court should grant review because the Published Opinion harms election integrity by preventing academics, journalists, and citizens from watchdogging the election process.

At this moment in United States and Washington State history,

mistrust in government and in election integrity in particular is at all-time highs, and reasonably so. We face a barrage of official intelligence and media reports that foreign governments are actively seeking to interfere with elections systems and election outcomes. Indeed, just last week we learned that Russian hackers sought to break into Washington's election systems. This is the time to increase trust in our election systems with increased public oversight; but the Published Opinion does the opposite.

Public oversight of our elections is vital to preserving the integrity of and public trust in our election system. But if the Published Opinion is allowed to stand, it will preclude the critical role that journalists and academics play in protecting our election integrity. For example, the Published Opinion would forever prevent the type of investigation that the media conducted in the aftermath of the *Bush v. Gore* recount, which can prove crucial to uncovering and correcting weaknesses to our election systems and improving public trust in electoral outcomes. Given recent history, unconditional trust is neither warranted nor healthy for our democracy. It is far better for our democracy to allow and encourage academics, journalists, and citizen watchdogs to scrutinize the system with an eye and a nose to uncovering interference and system weaknesses. Moreover, there is no evidence in the record whatsoever suggesting that allowing public access to ballot images long after an election is completed

would cause any harm to the election system or compromise the secrecy of any voter's ballot choices.

The Court should accept review of this important issue.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Washington resident Timothy White.

#### III. COURT OF APPEAL'S PUBLISHED OPINION

On July 25, 2016, Division Two issued a published opinion affirming the trial court's denial of Petitioner's relief under the PRA. *White* v. *Clark County*, Published Opinion, No. 49599-6-II (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 2, July 25, 2016).

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Published Opinion err in holding, for the first time, that a state agency regulation can constitute an "other statute" under RCW 42.56.070(1) and thereby allow and agency to exempt public records from disclosure?
- 2. Did the Published Opinion err in rejecting the *Wash. State Patrol* standard requiring the statute be "explicitly clear that a specific record, or potions of it, is exempt or otherwise prohibited from production," and instead adopting a flexible and vague standard?
- 3. Did Clark County violate the PRA by refusing to produce electronic election records that would facilitate an analysis of election-system accuracy and security while posing no threat to the secret ballot?
- 4. Must Clark County produce the anonymous records because public access to election records furthers the public interest in a well-functioning democracy?
- 5. Is Petitioner a prevailing party, entitling him to recovery of his reasonable attorney fees and costs, and should Clark County pay daily

penalties for violating the Act?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is an election advocate seeking to ensure that the certified winner of each election actually received the most cast votes and that the public trusts that this is so. In an earlier case, Petitioner succeeded in enhancing election integrity by proving that Washington counties had implemented uncertified software to track ballots, and obtaining a state-wide injunction against continued use of that system. *See White, Rosato, et al. v. Henley*, San Juan County Super. Ct., Nos. 06-2-05166-2, 10-2-05002-8, Stip. Order Granting Permanent Injunction (Sept. 27, 2013) (J. Eaton). This appeal continues Petitioner's efforts to enhance election integrity.

One of the greatest sources of public mistrust in elections is the use of computerized software systems that automate vote-counting and determine election outcomes. This concern is reasonable considering that hackers have recently tried to hack election systems around the country, and have stolen data from what should be the most secure institutions, including

<sup>1</sup> The Court may take judicial notice of this Superior Court case and injunction. A copy of this injunction is attached as Appendix B.

5

the federal government,<sup>2</sup> the largest banks,<sup>3</sup> commercial websites<sup>4</sup> and others.<sup>5</sup> Given the millions of dollars spent on campaigns, it is only natural to believe that software vulnerabilities in election systems will eventually be exploited. These reasonable fears alone "drive[] honest citizens out of the democratic process...Voters who fear their legitimate votes will be outweighed by fraudulent ones will feel disenfranchised." *Purcell v. Gonzalez*, 549 U.S. 1, 4, 127 S.Ct. 5 (2006).

Simple direct "groundproofing" is the gold standard to confirm the accuracy of the software tabulation system—and to ensure public trust in this system, allowing the public, academics and the press to compare the computer generated copies of the cast ballots with the final election outcome. Computer experts, academics, and election advocates like Petitioner have participated in such efforts, even if few ordinary citizens ever would.<sup>6</sup> The proven result of such work—like Petitioner's previous

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mark Mazzetti, et al., *U.S. Fears Data Stolen by Chinese Hacker Could Identify Spies*, N.Y. TIMES, July 24, 2015, at A1, available at http://nyti.ms/1LDN7Fu.

The Court may take judicial notice of all these widely-reported events, including those cited *infra*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Matthew Goldstein, et al., *Neglected Server Provided Entry for JPMorgan Hackers*, N.Y. TIMES, December 23, 2014, at B1, available at http://nyti.ms/1CsjMcm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Danny Yadron, *Hackers Post Stolen User Data From Ashley Madison Breach*, WALL St. J., August 19, 2015, http://on.wsj.com/1JsiUTt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Hannah Kuchler, *Cyber Insecurity, Hacking Back*, FIN. TIMES, July 27, 2015, http://on.ft.com/1Mwalxk.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See e.g., Associated Press, Wichita State Mathematician Says Kansas Voting Machines Need Audit, WICHITA EAGLE, July 20, 2015, http://www.kansas.com/news/politics-government/article27951310.html.

lawsuit—is to remove or fix faulty election hardware and software *before* it causes (intentionally or accidentally) the certified outcome of an election to diverge from the votes cast.<sup>7</sup>

The Published Opinion eliminates oversight of our elections through the PRA, hamstringing one of the best organs we have to prevent such election errors and/or fraud and to enhance public trust. It precludes Petitioner, the press, or academics from obtaining the information necessary to ferret out problems and initiate timely legal challenges to correct faulty ballots, ballot lines and tallies. The fact that officials bought and implemented uncertified election software shows that sometimes blind trust is not enough. Without the vigilance of Petitioner and other election advocates, such illegal software would continue in use today.

Here, Petitioner requested anonymous digital image files of scanned paper ballots (indisputably public records under the PRA) after the election was long over. CP 16-17. The request for ballot images does not involve the cast paper ballots, which by statute must be secured in sealed containers immediately after tabulation. RCW 29A.60.110. The requested documents

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See e.g., Kim Zetter, Unique Transparency Program Uncovers Problems with Voting Software, WIRED, December 8, 2008, https://www.wired.com/2008/12/unique-transpar/, in which citizens inspecting Humboldt County, CA ballot images posted online "discovered that the Premier system had dropped a batch of 197 ballots from its tabulation software."

are mere scans—like many of us deal with every day. Once scanned, the original can be filed or sealed, and eventually destroyed, while the electronic copy is stored on a computer and can be viewed or reprinted. *Id*.

The County refused to product any copies of ballot images. CP 14, ¶¶ 3-4. As Division Two previously found, Clark County "provided no evidence that production of the ballot images White requested would compromise voter secrecy."8

On October 13, 2015, Plaintiff commenced a PRA case to compel the County to provide copies of the withheld records. *See* CP 1-5. In withholding the requested ballots and ballot-image files, the County cited no authority specifically exempting the records from public access at this point—almost two years after tabulation, certification and expiration of the statutory retention period. CP 20; RCW 29A.60.110. The County instead asked the court to imply a new exemption from the Constitution, broad election regulations of Title 29A RCW, and administrative code.

Following a show cause hearing, the trial court denied relief to Plaintiff. *See* CP 513-18. Division Two issued a published opinion affirming the trial court on June 25, 2016.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> White v. Clark County, 188 Wn.App. 622, 632 (2015)

### VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) because the Published Opinion's decision that an agency rule can constitute an "other statute" exempting PRA disclosure conflicts with Supreme Court precedent.

The Published Opinion unambiguously holds for the first time that a state agency's rule can constitute an "other statute" exempting records from disclosure. 199 Wn.App. at 937. ("WAC 434-261-045 also provides an 'other statute" exemption to the PRA.") The Published Opinion conflicts with the Supreme Court's clear precedent that only the Legislature can create a PRA exemption and thereby fundamentally undermines the PRA.

The Supreme Court instead has held that an "other statute" exemption can be found "only when the Legislature has made it explicitly clear that a specific record, or portions of it, is exempt or otherwise prohibited from production." Wash. State Patrol, 185 Wn.2d at 373 (emphasis added). In reaching this conclusion, Wash. State Patrol quoted *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. or Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 252-53 (1994) ("PAWS II") for the proposition that the Legislature "does not want judges any more than agencies to be wielding broad and malleable exemptions."

Yet, the Published Opinion allows agencies "to wield broad and malleable exemptions" by exempting their own documents from disclosure

merely by issuing a regulation – which can even be adopted and take effect immediately and without public notice. RCW 34.05.350 (emergency rules). Indeed, if a rule can constitute an "other statute," then perhaps so could an agency order or opinion.

As this Court has held, "Leaving interpretation of the act to those at whom it was aimed would be the most direct course to its devitalization." *Hearst Corp. v.* Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 131 (1978).

The threat to the PRA is not weakened by the Published Opinion's suggestion that a regulation can create an "other statute" exemption as long as the agency provide a sufficient pretense in promulgating the rule. The Published Opinion states that regulation can create the exemption because, the Secretary of State, rather than creating a PRA exemption, was "implementing regulations to ensure ballot security and secrecy." 199 Wn.App, at 938.

Empowering agencies to exempt records (through WACs) encourages agencies to promulgate rules merely to remove records from public access that could be embarrassing or worse.

On several occasions, this Court has made clear that "The PRA's purpose of open government remains paramount, and thus, the PRA directs that its exemptions must be narrowly construed." *Resident Action Council* v. *Seattle Housing Auth.*, 177 Wn.2d 417, 432 300 P.3d 376 (2013),

republished as amended 327 P.3d 600 (2014); see also e.g. PAWS II., 125 Wn.2d at 260 ("the Legislature takes the trouble to repeat three times that exemptions...should be construed narrowly."). See also RCW 42.56.030 ("This chapter shall be liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed to promote this public policy and to assure that the public interest will be fully protected."). See also PAWS II, 125 Wn.2d at 262 (the PRA "does not allow a court 'to imply exemptions but only allows specific exemptions to stand."").

The Court should accept review and reverse the published opinion's ruling that an agency can exempt records from the PRA through regulation.

B. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2) because the Published Opinion applies a standard for the "other statutes" exemption that conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent.

In addition to allowing agency rules to constitute an "other statute," the Published Opinion contradicts *Washington State Patrol* by diluting the strict standard for when the "other statute" exemption applies. In *Washington State Patrol*, the Court held that the "other statute" exemption "applies only to those exemptions explicitly identified in other statutes; its language does not allow a court 'to imply exemptions but only allows specific exemptions to stand'." 185 Wn.2d at 372. "[I]f the exemption is not found within the PRA itself, we will find an 'other statute' exemption

only when the legislature has made it explicitly clear that a specific record, or portions of it, is exempt or otherwise prohibited from production in response to a public records request." 1854 Wn.2d at 373 (emphasis added). The Court held that:

The PRA, and our caselaw surrounding it, demands that an 'other statute' exemption be explicit. Where the legislature has not made a PRA exemption in an 'other statute' explicit, we will not. Thus, "the lack of prohibitory language ... or explicit exemption" means that a statute does not qualify as an "other statute "exemption.

185 Wn.2d at 384. The Court concluded that "An 'other statute' exemption must be explicit, this court may not imply one. Because the legislature did not make it explicit, we hold that RCW 4.24.550 is not an "other statute" under the PRA and reverse the trial court." 185 Wn.2d at 387 (emphasis added).

The Court cited approvingly of *Belo Management Services Inc. v. Click! Network*, 184 Wn.App. 649, 653-54 (2014) for its holding that the "other statute" exemption does not apply because the enactment "did not 'specifically state that the [documents at issue] are confidential and protected from disclosure.""

Other cases from the Courts of Appeal have followed this standard. For example, *SEIU 775 v. Washington*, 198 Wn.App. 745 (Div. II, Feb. 2017) confirms that to qualify as an exemption, the "other statute" "must expressly prohibit the release of public records." *Id.* at 751. The Court

held that the statute in question "is not concerned with the privacy or confidentiality of specific records or information, and it does not explicitly prohibit the release of records of information ... Accordingly, we hold that the PECBA does not provide an 'other statute' exemption to the PRA under RCW 42.656.070(1)."

Here, the Published Opinion ignores the "explicitly clear" standards adopted by the Supreme Court and Courts of Appeal. It instead applies a flexible and vague standard that could allow virtually any statute or rule to qualify, giving agencies a multitude of excuses to avoid producing public records.

Indeed, the Published Opinion states that WAC 434-261-045 constitutes a qualifying "other statute" *because it was not explicit* – the exact opposite standard that the Supreme Court requires. 199 Wn.App. at 938 (the WAC qualifies because it "does not regulate disclosure or interpret the disclosure requirements of the PRA.")

Neither of the enactments relied upon by the Published Opinion for an "other statute" exemption come anywhere near meeting this Court's "explicit" standard. First, the Court of Appeal relied upon RCW 29A.60.110 which is only about the security of physical ballots during the election process, allowing the sealed containers holding the ballots to be opened in only certain situations. Rather than looking for an explicit

exemption or prohibition of release, the Court did the exact opposite, stating that disclosure is prohibited even years after the election because "Nothing in the language of RCW 29A.60.100 suggests that the ballots need only be kept secure for 60 days." 199 Wn.App. at 938.

Neither the statute nor the regulation relied upon as "other statute" contained the explicit exemption or prohibition of release meeting the *Washington State Patrol* standard. Rather, they both focus on ensuring that nobody tampers with the paper ballots during the election or prior to a potential recount. Security provisions for records do not equate to secrecy of those records. Moreover, RCW 29A.60.110 is about original physical documents, not the copies of electronic images that Petitioner was seeking.

The digital images sought by Petitioner – long after the election was certified and final – have nothing to do with the security of the sealed containers of paper ballots at issue in RCW 29A.60.110. Those images are stored on computers and never were in sealed containers. Thus, the statute does not contain any statement about the release of copies of ballot images, and certainly not an "explicitly clear" exemption or prohibition of their public release. Rather, the Published Opinion improperly "implies" an exemption, which is prohibited. *Wash. State Patrol*, 185 Wn.2d at 387.

By eliminating the Supreme Court's "explicitly clear" standard, the Published Opinion fundamentally undermines the PRA.

# C. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4) because the Published Opinion conflicts with precedent and important public policy about the release of ballot images.

The Published Opinion misconstrues Supreme Court precedent and undermines important public interest in its decision about burden of proof and the agency's need to redact information to facilitate public disclosure.

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