## FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/8/2017 2:47 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 94848-8

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## TIMOTHY WHITE

Petitioner,

vs.

CLARK COUNTY,

Respondent.

## REPLY IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### SMITH & LOWNEY, PLLC

By: Knoll D. Lowney WSBA No. 23457

2317 East John Street Seattle WA 98112-5412

(206) 860-2883

Attorneys for Petitioner Timothy White

# **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Court should review the Published Opinion because it fundamentally undermines the Public Records Act ("PRA"). The Published Opinion, *for the first time*, allows a state regulation to exempt records from disclosure under the "other statute" exemption of RCW 42.56.070(1), and it conflicts with this Court's recent mandate that Courts find an "other statute" exemption only where the statutory exemption is "explicitly clear."

In John Doe A. v. Wash. State Patrol, 185 Wn.2d 363 (2016), this Court recognized that the Public Records Act would be jeopardized by an expansive application of the "other statute" exemption under RCW 42.56.070(1). The Court therefore adopted a strict standard that allows that exemption to apply "only *when the legislature* has made it *explicitly clear* that a specific record, or portions of it, is exempt or otherwise prohibited from production." *Id.*, 185 Wn.2d at 373 (emphasis added). The Published Opinion fundamentally conflicts with this standard.

Here, the Published Opinion found an *implied* PRA exemption in the statute that requires tabulated ballots to remain "sealed in a container" after an election, to be opened only by the canvassing board in case of a recount or certain other election challenges. RCW 29A.60.110. The Published Opinion's reading of the statute is so flawed that it cannot withstand any scrutiny, and certainly cannot withstand the rigorous scrutiny mandated by *Wash. State Patrol.* 

Beyond lacking an "explicitly clear" PRA exemption, RCW **29A.60.110** *does not even apply to the requested documents at all.* Petitioner only sought electronic images of tabulated ballots, and the Published Opinion simply assumes that such images meet the definition of "ballots" and therefore deserve equal security as paper ballots under RCW 29A.60.110.

But the Legislature's definition of "ballot" contains four different definitions and states that the choice of which applies is based upon the "context." RCW 29A.04.008(1). The mandate that ballots be "sealed in containers," and "consolidated into a one sealed container for storage purposes" and only "opened by the canvassing board" is *exclusively* about the fourth definition – "The physical document on which the voter's choices are to be recorded." The Court of Appeals erred in finding that electronic images of paper ballots need to be or can be "sealed in containers."

In addition, the Court should review the Published Opinion to restore the ability of academics, journalists, and citizens to assist in protecting our election system from cyberattack, which is critically important now that it is confirmed that foreign governments are trying to hack our election systems and that those systems are vulnerable. Indeed, due to this urgent threat, the Department of Homeland Security recently deemed our election systems to be part of the Nation's critical infrastructure, a designation established by the Patriot Act and given to "systems and assets, whether physical or virtual, so vital to the United States that the incapacity or destruction of such systems and assets would have a debilitating impact on security, national economic security, national public health or safety, or any combination of those matters."<sup>1</sup>

Clark County states that this Court should deny review because previous cases by Petitioner were resolved against him and were not granted review by this Court. However, as the Published Opinion recognized, previous cases involved a very different records request that does not control this case.

More importantly, those decisions were decided *before* the Supreme Court mandated that courts apply a rigorous standard for the "other statutes" exemption in *Wash. State Patrol.* They were also issued before we knew that foreign governments were *in fact* seeking to hack into Washington State's voting systems. Finally, those cases although erroneous did not

1

https://www.eac.gov/assets/1/6/starting\_point\_us\_election\_systems\_as\_Critical\_I nfrastructure.pdf

fundamentally alter the PRA by allowing a state regulation to constitute an "other statute" PRA exemption, thereby opening up an avenue for agencies to exempt their own documents from disclosure – which has never been allowed in this State.

The Court should grant review of this important case.

### II. REPLY ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF PETITION.

A. This Court should accept review under rap 13.4 (b)(1) because the Published Opinion's decision that an agency rule can constitute an "other statute" PRA exemption conflicts with Supreme Court precedent and threatens the PRA.

The Published Opinion unambiguously holds for the first time that a state agency's rule can constitute an "other statute" exempting records from disclosure under RCW 42.56.070(1). Published Opinion, 199 Wn.App. at 937. ("WAC 434-261-045 also provides an 'other statute" exemption to the PRA.")

Clark County is wrong in arguing that this is existing law. The Supreme Court has held that an "other statute" exemption can be found "*only when the Legislature* has made it explicitly clear that a specific record, or portions of it, is exempt or otherwise prohibited from production." *Wash. State Patrol*, 185 Wn.2d at 373 (emphasis added).

The only case that Clark County cites for the proposition that regulations can create an exemption is *Ameriquest Mortg. Co. v. Office of* 

Attorney Gen., 170 Wn.2d 418, 241 P.3d 1245 (2010), but that case is entirely different because it involved a federal law and implementing federal regulation.

In *Ameriquest*, the federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act ("GLBA"), 15 USCS § 6801(a), and implementing regulations, 16 CFR § 313, unquestionably prohibited disclosure of the requested information. The Court held that "By force of the supremacy clause of the United States Constitution, federal law can preempt state law. Preemption principles apply equally when the federal law is a regulation promulgated by a federal agency rather than a statute passed by Congress." 170 Wn.2d at 440 (citations omitted). Rather than finding that the GLBA preempted the State Public Records Act, the Court conclude that "the GLBA (together with the FTC rule enforcing it) is an 'other statute'" creating an exemption under RCW 42.56.070(1). *Id*.

Just as an "explicitly clear" statute by our legislature can create an "other statute" exemption under *Wash. State Patrol*, federalism requires that this is equally true for an explicitly clear federal law or regulation.

The Published Opinion, in contrast, allows for the first time a *state* regulation to constitute an "other statute" exemption. This is contrary to Supreme Court precedent set out in *Wash. State Patrol* and the many other cases cited in the Petition. Allowing state regulation to create exemptions

– and thereby allowing agencies to exempt their own records -- raises
critical policy concerns that were not present in *Ameriquest. See Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 131 (1978) ("Leaving interpretation of the
act to those at whom it was aimed would be the most direct course to its
devitalization."); *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. or Wash.*,
125 Wn.2d 243, 252-53 (1994) (the Legislature "does not want judges any
more than agencies to be wielding broad and malleable exemptions.")

The Court should accept review and reverse the published opinion's ruling that an agency can exempt records from the PRA through regulation.

B. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2) because the Published Opinion applies a standard for the "other statutes" exemption that conflicts with Supreme Court precedent.

Clark County fails to respond to the Petition's argument that the Published Opinion departs from *Wash. State Patrol* and other precedents which adopt a strict and specific standard for when a Court can find an "other statutes" exemption from the PRA.<sup>2</sup>

Here, the Published Opinion ignored that standard and found an "implied" exemption in a statute dealing with ballot secrecy and security.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Clark County just says that the decision is consistent with Petitioner's earlier cases (*White I and II*), but those cases were decided before *Wash*. *State Patrol* and involved requests for pre-tabulated ballots. This Court's decision not to review them is not precedential.

In addition to violating the proper standard, the Published Opinion's entire argument for the exemption is based upon a misreading of statutes and a faulty premise about ballot secrecy and security.

# 1. The Published Opinion improperly "implies" an "other statute" exemption.

The Published Opinion is inconsistent with the precedents stating that an "other statute" exemption will *not* be implied. "[I]f the exemption is not found within the PRA itself, we will find an 'other statute' exemption only when the legislature has made it *explicitly clear that a specific record, or portions of it, is exempt or otherwise prohibited from production in response to a public records request.*" *Wash. State Patrol,* 185 Wn.2d at 373 (emphasis added).

Clark County argues that because the statute only allows unsealing of ballot containers in four situations, the exemption should be implied from the statute's silence about public records requests. Answer, at 11. But this is exactly opposite of the standard mandated by *Wash. State Patrol:* "Where the legislature has not made a PRA exemption in an 'other statute' explicit, we will not. Thus, 'the lack of prohibitory language ... or explicit exemption' means that a statute does not qualify as an 'other statute' exemption." *Wash. State Patrol*, 185 Wn.2d at 384.

Clark County relies upon *Adams v. King County*, 164 Wn.2d 640, 650 (2008) for the proposition that "Omissions are deemed to be exclusions." Answer, at 11. However, *Adams* was not a Public Records Act case and did not involve the "other statute" exemption, so it cannot be interpreted to weaken this Court's holding in *Wash. State Patrol.* 

Nowhere in RCW 29A.60.110 is an explicitly clear exemption as required by *Wash. State Patrol.* The Published Opinion ignores that standard altogether. By instead adopting a lenient and subjective standard, the Published Opinion will undermine future PRA enforcement.

# 2. The implied exemption found by the Published Opinion is based upon a blatant misrepresentation of the Statute.

The entire basis for Division Two's implying a statutory exemption is based upon its flawed premise that the legislature has defined "ballots" to include electronic images of ballots and, therefore, electronic images of ballots deserve the same security as the ballots themselves. Thus, Clark County argues that "Electronic copies of voted ballots must be maintained in sealed and secured storage" just like paper ballots. Answer at 9.

However, the definition of "ballots" as used in RCW 29A.60.110 obviously only includes the physical, paper ballots that may be later used to conduct a recount, not the images of those ballots stored on various election

systems and computers.

The Legislature did not define ballots to include all electronic

images of ballots as the Published Opinion and Clark County suggest.

Rather, the statute adopts four different definitions of ballots and states that

the "context" determines which applies:

(1) "Ballot" means, as the context implies, either:

(a) The issues and offices to be voted upon in a jurisdiction or portion of a jurisdiction at a particular primary, general election, or special election;

(b) A facsimile of the contents of a particular ballot whether printed on a paper ballot or ballot card or as part of a voting machine or voting device;

(c) A physical or electronic record of the choices of an individual voter in a particular primary, general election, or special election; *or* 

(d) The physical document on which the voter's choices are to be recorded;

RCW 29A.04.008 (emphasis added). Thus, this Court must consider the

context in deciding the definition that applies.

It is nonsensical to believe that the Legislature sought to force all counties to give electronic ballot images the same security as the paper ballots that are used in recounts and election challenges. It is equally absurd that the Legislature sought to force all counties to seal their election computers in a container for months after every election, only to be released in the case of a recount. Such a sequestration of the election systems would

obviously hinder preparations for future elections and would be useless.

When the Court considers which definition of ballot applies in the

"context" of RCW 29A.60.110, the only one that makes sense is the

definition of RCW 29A.04.008(1)(d) - "The physical document on which

#### the voter's choices are to be recorded."

The context is RCW 29A.60.110, which provides:

Immediately after their tabulation, *all ballots counted at a ballot counting center must be sealed in containers* that identify the primary or election and be retained for at least sixty days or according to federal law, whichever is longer.

In the presence of major party observers who are available, *ballots may be removed from the sealed containers at the elections department and consolidated into one sealed container for storage purposes. The containers may only be opened by the canvassing board as part of the canvass, to conduct recounts, to conduct a random check under RCW 29A.60.170, or by order of the superior court in a contest or election dispute.* If the canvassing board opens a ballot container, it shall make a full record of the additional tabulation or examination made of the ballots. This record must be added to any other record of the canvassing process in that county.

The context clearly indicates that this statute is about "The physical

document on which the voter's choices are to be recorded." RCW

29A.04.008(1)(d).

First, only physical ballots can be "sealed in a container" "for storage purposes." Indeed, the election code in other places confirms that only the actual physical ballots are to be sealed in containers. 29A.40.110(2) ("After opening the return envelopes, the county canvassing board shall place all of the ballots in secure storage until processing.") It would be absurd to order counties to seal all electronic ballot images (which are stored on computers) in containers. That would likely be impossible and at the very least would require sequestering critical equipment for many months.

Second, the statute only applies to the ballots that are "counted at a counting center," and this is only true of the physical ballots. Thus, this statute on its face does not apply to digital images. This is a vote by mail state where we count physical ballots. *See* RCW 29A.40.110 ("Ballots may be taken from the inner envelopes and all the normal procedural steps may be performed to prepare these ballots for tabulation."); RCW 29A.60.040 (prohibiting counting of ballots that are "found folded together").

Third, the entire point of sealing the ballots in secure containers is to preserve the ballots so that they can "only be opened by the canvassing board as part of the canvass, to conduct recounts, to conduct a random check under RCW 29A.60.170, or by order of the superior court in a contest or election dispute." RCW 29A.60.110. Such procedures use only the physical ballots, not images stored on computers. *See e.g.* 29A.64.041 ("At a time and place established for the recount, the canvassing board …

11

shall open the sealed containers containing the ballots to be recounted ... Ballots shall be handled only by the members of the canvassing board...")

Fourth, the entire chapter of RCW 29A.60 is about the physical ballots. That's why it talks about ballots that are "folded," "damaged" and ultimately "sealed in containers." *See* RCW 29A.60.040 ("A ballot is invalid ... if it is found folded together with another ballot."); RCW 29A.60.120 ("All voted ballots must be manually inspected for damage, write-in votes, and incorrect or incomplete marks."); RCW 29A.60.110 (requiring ballots be sealed in containers).

This is all extremely obvious, but also made clear by the Washington Secretary of State's description of election security in Washington. The Secretary of State – the State's chief election officer – explains that our security systems differentiate the paper ballots – which require sealing and are used in recounts – from the election equipment on which ballot images are stored.

As for the paper ballots, the Secretary of State confirms:

We use a paper-based system, which always allows Washington elections officials the opportunity to see first-hand the voter's intent. We can go back to the paper ballot marked by the voter and hand count a race, particularly when the races are very close. In contrast, here are the type of precautions that are required for the

computers containing the ballot images in question:

#### **Network Based Security:**

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